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UNITED STATESDISTRICT COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA

UNITED STATES OF AMERICAex rel.
PATRICIA SCOTT and JOHN L.
TUDBURY,

Plaintiffs,
V. Civil Action No. 13-1844 CKK)
PACIFIC ARCHITECTS AND ENGINEERS

(PAE), INC.dba PAE Government Services,
Inc, aka PAEGroup,

Defendant

MEMORANDUM OPINION
(Januaryl5s, 2020)

In this action under the False Claims AtECA"), 31 U.S.C. 883729-3733 Relators
Patricia Scott and John L. Tudbupyincipally allege that Defendant Pacific Architects and
Engineers, Inc. (“PAE”) engaged in improper billing practices in Beirutahen pursuant to a
police training contract awarded by the U.S. Department of SReading before the Court is
Defendant’s Motion to Dismiss the Fourth Amended Compl&@E No. 64prought pursuant to
Federal Rules of Civil Procedure 9(b) and 12(b)(6pon consideration of the pleadingthe

relevant legal authorities, and the record for purposes of the gendiion, the Motion to Dismiss

! The Court’s consideration has focused on the following documents:
e Fourth Am. Compl., ECF No. 63;
e Mem. of P. &A. in Supp. of Mot. to Dismiss the Fourth Am. Con(iiidef. s Mem?),
ECF No. 65;
e Mem.in Supp. of Opp’n to Defs Mot. to Dismiss Relatar&ourth Am. Compl.
(“Oppn”), ECF No. 67,
e Reply Mem. in Supp. of Mot. to Dismiss Fourth Am. Con{fReply’), ECF No. 70;
e Statement of Material Disclosure by Patricia S¢d&burth Am.Compl.Ex. A”), ECF
No. 66 at 4-17and
e Statement of Material Disclosure by John L. Tudbtiiourth Am.Compl.Ex. B’), ECF
No. 66 at 19-27.
In an exercise of its discretion, the Court finds that holding oral argument would oot be
assistance in rendering a decisi@eelLCvR 7(f).
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is GRANTED. Defendant’s Motionseeks to have dismissetight of the Fourth Amended
Complaint’s nine countsAs explained belowthose eight counts are herdbySMISSED WITH
PREJUDICE.

I. BACKGROUND

The following factual nagative is gleaned from the allegatiomsthe Fourth Amended
Complaint. The allegationsre taken as true solely for purposes of the pending motion and only
insdfar asthey do not contradict the documents upon which teegssarilyely.

Defendant is a ‘@mpany operating in 45 countries that has many contracts with the United
States for logistics, construction, services including peace keepsigejyrograms, capacity
building, and international policing programs.Fourth Am. Compl. 8. Since 2007, hte
Department of State’s Bureau of International Narcotics and Law Enferteiffairs (“INL”)
has awarded Defendant contracts to provide police training and administratice seneirut,
Lebanon, among other locations around the woltd.f 9. Relator Scott worked for Defendant
in Lebanon from February to August 2011 as a Human Resource and Administratiagekla
Fourth Am.Compl.Ex. A 3. Relator Tudburyvorked for Defendant in Lebanon from October
2009 to October 2011 as an International Police TraiReurth Am.Compl.Ex. B { 3. The crux
of Relators’Complaint is that from approximately December 2007 to December 2011, Defendant
submitted false claimfor reimbursement, on a monthly basis, pursuant to the paddiceng
contract awarded by INLSeeFourth Am. Compl. 1. Relators allege that this conduct was
facilitated bytwo PAE employeesThomas Barnes, who was Deputy Program Manager in
Lebanon and Dan Moritz, who was a Program Manager in Lebaichrf] 12.

Relatorsallegea variety of improprietiesThe chief allegation ithat Defendant routinely

falsified formsused to record the hours worked by its personnel and to seek compensation when



invoicing the government.ld.  16. Relators also allege that Defendant hired personnel in
Lebanon who did not meet the minimum requirements for their jlwh4lY42-48. They further
allege that drivers paid for by the government were used by Defendant’syeegstin particular,
Mr. Barnes—for recreational purposes unrelated to government wiatky 49. Relators claim
that Defendant encouraged employees to purch@fsein violation of the Fly America Act,
49U.S.C. 840118.1d. 1 50-56.Theyallege that Defendant failed to passnbursenent money
down to itsemployeesfter it received money from the governmanpay for employee medical
examinations Id. §76—79. Moreover, Relators allege that Defendant “billed products for more
than cost such that the government was overbilled for pads.¥ 80. Relatorsalso allegehat
Defendant engaged in a “pattern and practicesimilar fraud at other international sitegyond
the Lebanon site where both Relators workket 181-88.Lastly, Relator Patricia Scott alleges
that she was terminated in retaliation for her efforts to investigate the actiesishdd above.
Id. 1157-75.
II. PROCEDURAL HISTORY

The procedural history of this case is compleRisagreement between the parties
regarding the timing and effect of procedural developments has been the tauseeoous
motions, hearings, and general deld@p. prevent further delayandto aid in the disposition of the
presentMotion to Dismissthe Court here provides a detailed account of this action’s history.

Relators filed their original Complaint under seal on November 20, 28&8led Original
Compl., ECF No. 1Relators filed theiFirst Amended Complairdn March 13, 2014First Am.
Conpl., ECF No0.9. In response to Defendant’s Motion to Dismiss, Relators sought and were
granted leave to file a Second Amended Complaint, which they filed on August 15,28ddhd

Am. Compl., ECF No. 30. Defendant again moved to dismiss, and the Castieda



Memorandum Opinion and Order that dismisaétiout prejudicéRelators’[reverse FCALElaim
pursuant to section 3729(a)(1)(G), and Relator Tudb{eygployment retaliationglaim pursuant
to section 3730(h)."Sept.13, 2017 Mem. Op. and Order, ECF No. 36, at 16.

The parties have expressed disagreement regardi®gtember 13, 20IMemorandum
Opinionand Ordes effect on Relatorsaction Defendant’s view is that the Coutismissed the
reverse FCA and Tudbury retaliation clajrfeund the claim of timesheet fraud in Lebanon to be
plausible andparticular andexpressed no opinioas to whether Plaintiffs’ other claims were
sufficiently pled under Rule 8 or 9(bDef.’s Mem.at4. Relators agrethat the reverse FCA and
Tudburyretaliation claims were dismissed, but they interpret the Memorandum OgirddDrder
asfinding all theother Lebanomrlaimssufficiently pled Relators explain

Defendant is arguing that the Court previously did not address the substantive

claims of the 2AC in overruling the Motions to Dismigker than the time sheet

fraud in Lebanon.This is a deceptive argumerit.is clear that the Qurt was well

aware of Relators’ allegations of False Claims Act violations concernaugl fr

schemes in Lebanon involving: overbilling on parts; improper hiring; misuse of

company equipment; charging more than permitted for flights; and failing to
reimburse employees for required medical examinations.

Opp’nat 11 (citation omitted)

Believing the Memorandum Opinioand Order to have found that the various “fraud
schemes” listedabove were sufficiently pled Relators see Defendant's present Motion to
Dismiss—which raises both old and neavgumentshallenging whether the “fraud schemeasé
sufficiently pled—as improperly successivmder Rule 1@)). Seed. at 13. Relatorsopine that
“[r]ather than limit its Motion to those matters not previously decided, the DeferaanbW
sought to relitigate the previous 12(b)(6) motiasgo # claims[.]” Id. at 2.

The Court now provides clarificationn its September 13, 201IMemorandum Opinion
and Orde, the Courtdismissed Relatorseverse FCAclaim andthe claim of retaliation against

John Tudbury.SeeSept. 13, 2017 Mem. Op. and Order, ECF No.a88:-2, 16-17. The Court
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foundthat Relators had stated a viable claim regarding retaliation against Patricia Sxoit.
The Courtalsofound that “Relators [had] stated viable claims pursuant to sections 3729(a)(1)(A)
and3729(a)(1)(B).]” Id. at 16-17. The Court’s use of the plural “claimsdid not imply thatall
of Relators’ allegationsrelated to the cited sections were sufficiently pledThe Court’s
Memorandum Opinion noted exactly whiohRelators’ manyallegationswere sufficiently pled
under sections 3729(a)(1)(A) and 3729(a)(1)(B); the only allegation on which the Cousisexipre
an opinion was that of improper billing for hours not worked in Lebanon. The Court explained:
Relators have stated a plausible claim under section 3729(a)(1)(A) that neeets t
requirements of Rule 9(b)n particular, Relators have plausibly alleged that over
the course of several years, Defendant billed time to the federal goverfament
hours that were not actually worked by its personnel in LebanonThe Court
also finds that Relators have stated a viable claim pursuant to section
3729(a)(1)(B). .. This claim is ‘complementary’ to one under section
3729(a)()(A) . .. Theprincipal difference between the two claims is that section
3729(a)(1)(A) imposes liability for false claims, while section 3729(aBj1)(
imposes liability for a knowingly false ‘record or statement that was material to a
false or fraudulent claim.’. . Here, for theeasons already state&elators have

plausibly alleged, with sufficient particularity, that Defendant submitteditrient
billing statements and claims to the federal government.

Id. at 3-11(emphasis added)lhe only‘reasonsalready sted’ at that point in the Memorandum
Opinion were those related tmproperbilling for hours not worked in LebanorThe Court’s
analysis had not yet touched upon the other “fraud schemes” regarding unquaiiflegees,
driver transportation, airlinedkets, medical reimbursements, parts overbilling, or activities at sites
beyond LebanonThe Court’s silence as tehether the other “fraud schemes” were sufficiently
pledis made clear at several places throughout the Memorandum Opinion andrardgample,

the Court explained that “many of the counts merely [sthtifferent theories of recovery under
the same statutory sectio.o the extent that the Court deternjdiethat a statutory claim can
proceed on at least one theory of liabilitypfter[ed] no opinion as to the viability of the other

theories alleged in the complainid. at 8. Accordingly, in opining that Relators had stated viable



claims pursuant to sections 3729(a)(1)(A) and 3729(a)(1)(B), the Court wasirgfittmat the
allegations of timesheet fraud in Lebanon were sufficiently gatit was expressingo opinion
as to the other allegations.

Because the Court did not rule on the other allegations in its previous September 13, 2017
Memorandum Opinion and Ordddefendant presentarguments about these other allegatiens
renewed in theresentMotion to Dismiss the Fourth Amended Complaitto not violatethe
prohibition of Rule 12(g) against the filing of successive motidusy new arguments Defendant
raises regarding these other allegations are also permis$ilea limited number of cases, the
district court has exercised its discretion to permit a second preliminargnofpresent a Rule
12(b)(6) defense.Sierra v. HaydenNo. 161804, 2019J.S. Dist. LEXIS136553,at *24 (D.D.C.
Aug. 13, 2019)internal quotation marks and alterations omittégl)oting Lindsey v. United
States 448F. Supp. 2d 37, 55 (D.D.C. 2006)‘A court is most likely to permit a second such
motion if ‘the problem [Rule] 12(g) was designed to preveminecessary delayis] not a

concern? Id. (alteration in originalquotingStoffels v. SBS Commc’ns, |'430F. Supp. 2d
642, 648 (W.D. Tex. 2006))Here, unnecessary delay is not a concern; in fact, by allowing and
addressing any new arguments from Defendant about issues that have aoeiyetdra ruling,
the Court is able to significantly advance the progress of this litigaiR@gyuiringDefendan to
raise any such new arguments in a separate motion for judgment on the pleauiftgbe an
unnecessary waste of the both the Court’s and the parties’ resources.

At a status conference on November 20, 2(d¥,explained by Relatorghe Court
“discussed with counsel that the rulifign its Memorandum Opinion and Order regarding the

Second Amended Complaintjas not meant to address the claims outside Lebar®@pp’nat 2.

The Court stated’I've looked through the second amended complaint, andi’'spinion that it



relates solely to the Lebanon contract my feeling is that it's not specific enough as to these
other countries.’Def.’s Mem Ex. 4 (Nov. 20, 2017 Hearing.) at 3:25-4:2, 8:23-9:2The Court
allowed Relators to file a Third Amended Complaint to add more specifics relatingito th
allegation that fraud was also committed at other sites beyond Leb&aeAm. Scheduling and
Procedure®rder, ECF No. 45t5; SecondAm. Scheduling and Procedures Order, ECF No. 48,
ats.

After Relators filed the Third Amended ComplalBCF No. 49Defendant filed its Motion
to Dismiss the Third Amended ComplaiBCF No. 50arguing thata government audialleged
by Relators hattiggeredthe“public disclosure bdrof the False Claims ActSeeDef.’s Mot. To
DismissThird Am. Compl., ECF No. b, at28-31. Shortly thereafter, and before the deadline for
their opposition to that pending Motioa Dismiss, Relators filed their Motion to Aand ECF
No. 52 The Court summarized Relators’ Motion to Amemnd its September 13, 2018
Memorandum Opinion and OrdefThe primary question is whether Relators may drop their
paragraph 4allegation of a State Departmentdit, which allegation thegttribute to ‘a mistake
by counseln the Third Amended Complaitit. Sept. 13, 2018 Mem. Op. and Order, ECF No. 62,
at 7. Without expressing an opinion on the meatghe public disclosure arguments, the Court
allowed Relators to file a Fourth Amend@&@bmplaint to “walk back their allegationgif a
government audit.ld. The Court warned Relators that it expected them to have thoroughly
“reviewed the Third Amended Complaint for any deficiencies and made the neceggariy
their Fourth Amended Comgaht” Id. at 2. Moreover, “[the Court likewise expect[ed] that the
Fourth Amended Complaint, the fifth iteration of Relators’ pleadjmguld] be the operative
complaint for purposes of moving forward with Defendant’s Motion to Dismiss and thatimerfur

need to amend will arise prior to discovéryd. The Courffurtherobserved What appear[edio



be a pattern:Relators file a version of the Complaint; Defendant moves to dismiss; and Relator
seek to amend to correct an infirmity, either befarafter the Court’s disposition of the motion

to dismiss. This cycle occurred with Relators’ First, Second, and Third Amended Complaints.”
Id. at 2 n.2.

Relators filed theiFourth Amended ComplainECF No. 63and Defendant responded by
filing the present Motion to DismisECF No. 64 At longlast, after six years and five complaints,
the Court is able to rule on tkastmajority of Relators’ claims.

[11. LEGAL STANDARD
A. Rule 12(b)(6) Motion to Dismissfor Failureto Statea Claim

Defendant moves to dismiBelators’ claims for “failure to state a claim upon which relief
can be granted” pursuant to Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 12(l)/g)complaint [does not]
suffice if it tenders ‘naked assertiori[glevoid of ‘further factal enhancement.” Ashcroft v.
Igbal, 556U.S. 662, 678 (2009) (quotirell Atl. Corp. v. Twombly550U.S. 544, 557 (2007)).
Rather, a complaint must contain sufficient factual allegations that, if acceptec astate a
claim to relief that is plaible on its face.” Twombly 550U.S. at 570. “A claim has facial
plausibility when the plaintiff pleads factual content that allows the court Yo tthe& reasonable
inference that the defendant is liable for the misconduct alleggtdl, 556 U.S. at 678.

In assessing plausibilitya court may consider “the facts alleged in the complaint,
documents attached as exhibits or incorporated by reference in the complairfjocuments
upon which the plaintiff’'s complaint necessarily relies even if the document is pdodatéy
the plaintiff in the complaint but by the defendant in a motion to dismigé&itd v. District of
Columbia Dep’'t of Youth Rehab. Servé68F. Supp. 2d 117, 119 (D.D.C. 2011) (internal

guotation marks omittedjguotingGustaveSchmidt v. Chap 226F. Supp. 2d 191, 196 (D.D.C.



2002);Hinton v. Corr. Corp. of Am624F. Supp. 2d 45, 46 (D.D.C. 2009A court may consider
such documents without converting the motion to dismiss to a motion for summary jud§eent.
Vanover v. Hantan, 77F. Supp. 2d 91, 98 (D.D.C. 1999if'd, 38 Fed. Appx. 4, 200RVL
1359630 (D.C. Cir. 2002).

For purposes of the pending motion, the Court shall consliseBtatemers of Material
Disclosure byrelatorsPatricia ScotandJohn L. Tudburyn ECF No. 66 These Statements are
expressly incorporated by reference in #aurth AmendedComplaint and are attachdbty
subsequent docket entrg$ exhibits theretoSeeFourth Am. Compl. 5. The Court shall also
considerthe exhibits to DefendastMemorandum in Support of Motion to DismisRelators’
Complaint necessarily relies upon these documents, and many oatberplicitly referenced
in—but not attached to-Relators’Fourth Amended Complaint.

B. Pleading a Fraud Claim Pursuant to Rule 9(b)

“Complaints brought under the FCA magsocomply with Rule 9(b).”United States ex
rel. Landis v. Tailwind Sports Corps1F. Supp. 3d 9, 49 (D.D.C. 2014Rule 9(b) states that
“[i]n alleging fraud or mistake, a party must state with particularity the istances constituting
fraud or mistake.”Fed. R. Civ. P. 9(b). “Reading Rule 9(b) together with Rule 8’s requirement
that allegations be ‘short and plaithe D.C. Circuit has required plaintiffs to ‘state the time, place
and content of the falseisrepresentations, the famisrepresented and what was retained or given
up as a consequence of the fraud,” and to ‘identify individuals allegedly involved in the fraud.”
United States ex rel. Morsell v. Symantec CdrpOF. Supp. 3d 106, 117 (D.D.C. 20XBitation
omitted)(quotingUnited States ex rel. Williams v. MartiBaker Aircraft Co.Ltd., 389F.3d 1251,
1256 (D.C. Cir. 2004)).“Put more colloquially, an FCA plaintiff must identify the ‘who, what,

when, where, and how of the alledealid.” United States v. Kellogg Brown & Root Servs.,,Inc.



800F. Supp. 2d 143, 153 (D.D.C. 2011) (quotlgited Satesex rel. Wilson v. Kellogg Brown
& Root, Inc, 525 F.3d 370, 379 {d Cir. 2008)).

As explained by the D.C. Circuit, “the point of Rule 9(b) is to ensure that ther&csesuif
substance to the allegations to both afford the defendant the opportunity to prepare a ragponse a
to warrant further judicial processUnited States ex rel. Heath v. AT&T, In¢91 F.3d 112, 125
(D.C. Cir. 2015).Accordingly, “Rule 9(b) does not inflexibly dictate adherence to a preordained
checklist of ‘must have’ allegationsId. “In sum, although Rule 9(b) does not require plaintiffs
to allege every fact pertaining to every instance of fraud when a scheme spansysarsral
defendants must be able to defend against the charge and not just deny that theyeravloiog
wrong.” Williams 389 F.3d at 1259 (internal quotation marks omitted) (quafimted Satesex
rel. Lee v. SmithKline Beechamg¢., 245 F.3d 1048, 1052 (9th Cir. 2001)).

V. DISCUSSION

A. Count Onefalse Claim#\ct—Presentment

In Count One, Relators allegieat “[a]s set forth in paragraphs-22, 4348, 49, 5656,
57-75, 76-79, and 8689 Defendant violated the False Claims &1 U.S.C.8 3729(a)(1)(A))
by presenting false invoices for reimbursement to the U.S. Federal governmrentth Am.
Compl. 193. The Complaint paragraphs cited in Count One allege a variety of fraudulent conduct.
Paragraphs 2741 allege that Defendarsubmitted fraudulent time sheetich overstated the
hours worked by employsé Lebanon Paragraphs2-48 allege that Defendant hired personnel
who did not meet minimum requirements established by the U.S. governiardagraph 49
alleges that Defatant used local drivers for nemork purposes.Paragraphs 5®6 allege that
Defendantpurchased airline tickets at unnecessdritgh prices. Paragraphs 5#5 allege that

Defendant terminated Relator Patricia Scott as retalidtonScott’'s efforts to investigate

10



Defendant’s fraudulent activityParagraphs 7§49 allege that Defendant required employees to
pay for medical examinations but did not reimburse the employees for these exqeeresuired
by Defendant’s contract with théS. governmentParagraph 80 alleges that Defendant overbilled
the U.S. governmerfor parts. Paragraphs 8B9 allege thafraudulent activity, similar to that
occurring in Lebanon, occurredariousother sites around the worldEach of theeallegdions
will be discussed in turn.

1. Time Sheets

Relators allege that Defendailled the U.S. governmenfor time whenDefendant’'s
employees in Lebanowere not actually working Fourth Am. Compl. {®7-42. Defendant
argues that this Lebanon timekeepategm should belismissegursuant tahe False Claims Act’s
“public disclosure bar."Def.’s Mem.at32—-37. As the D.C. Circuit has explained:

Since its enactment, the FCA has empowered not only the Attorney General, but

also private citizens acting on the government’s behatfown asqui tam

relators—to sue persons who defraud the United Stateq.T]he relator shares in

any recovery. . .The FCA’squi tamprovisions thus encourage private citizens to

expose false claims and so serve as a critical supplement to government
enforcement.

By the same token, however, the FCA can encourage opportunistic lawsuits based
solely on information already known to the government. Accordingly, in an effort
to strike abalance between encouraging private persons to root out fraud and
stifing parasitic lawsuits, Congress established the FCA’s jurisdictional
provision—the secalledpublic disclosure bar.

United States ex rel. Doe v. Staples, ,Ii@3F.3d 83 84 (D.C. Cir. 2014) (citations and internal
guotation marks omittgdquoting Graham County Soil & Water Conservation Dist. v. United
States ex rel. Wilsob59U.S. 280, 295 (2010))The public disclosure baequires that a court
dismiss a False Claims Act action “if substantially the same allegations orctransas alleged
in the action or claim were publicly disclosed” in one of several enumeratesd \84 U.S.C.

83730(e)(4)(A). Relevant here, public disclosure in a “Federal report, hearing, audit, or
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investigation” triggers the barld. 8 3730(e)(4)(A)(ii). In the present case, Relators have pled
themselves out of court; they hapeesented factsndicating that“substantially the same
allegations” regarding fraudulent billing had already been publicly discldsedg or after a
federal audit and investigation prior to Relataatempted whistleblowing.A relator’s own
factual allegations may be considered whetermining whether a public disclosure has occurred.
For instance, in a recent False Claims Act case, the D.C. Circuit considenedator’s factual
allegations, saw some of the alleged facts as describing a public dischEsdireoncluded that
“[i Instead of pleading facts that establish federal jurisdiction, Relator isapldd himself out of
court.” Staples, In¢.773F.3dat 88; cf. Sparrow v. United Air Lines, Inc216F.3d 1111, 1116
(D.C. Cir. 2000) (“[1t is possible for a plaintiff to plead too much: that is, to pleadetimmst of
court by alleging facts that render success on the merits impossibRetators have done the
same here.

When the Court considered Relataiesquest to file a Fourth Amendé&bmplaint,“[t]he
primary question [was] whether Relators may drop tpamagraph 4lallegation of a State
Department audit, which allegation thetyribute to ‘a mistake by counsel.Sept. 13, 2018 Mem.
Op. and Order, ECF No. 62, at The concerwas that the alleged State fizetment audit, and
related communications from government officiatsight trigger the public disclosure bar.
Without expressing an opinion on the merits of the public disclosure argument, the Oowad al
Relators to file a Fourth Amended Complaintwalk back their allegations” arattempt taavoid
the bar.Id. at 7, 10-11.

For their present Fourth Amended Complaint, Relators deleted most of their direct
references to the State Department audit, but Relators chose not to remov&othgiaint’s

express incorporation of their Statements of Material Disclosure from 2@E2Fourth Am.
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Compl.  25. Wen Defendant notified Relators that that they had not attachedférenced
Statements as exhibits to their Fourth Amended Complaint, Refdéorshose Statements as a
separate docket entryseeRelators Notice of Docketingdf Exhibits A and B to the Fourth Am.
Compl, ECF No. 66.The first page of each of the 2012 Statements confirms that they were made
“under penalty of perjury.”Fourth Am. Comp. Ex. A at Iid. Ex. B at 1. In Relator Scott’s
Statement, she states

In about June of 2011, Daniel Moritz, Program Manager who worked for PAE in

their Virginia office came to visit usHe was in charge of the CIVPOL contracts

in Lebanon Middle East, and AfricaHe had worked with DoS, INL for years prior

to being with PAE.While working for PAE, Moritz was in a meeting with the State

Department and was led to believe the government had problems with the billing

practices of PAEPAE had been audited previously in 2009, | think, but Tom Beath

would know the exact datedvr. Moritz trained the PAE trainers and employees

how to answer auditors if they were ever asked by the State Departmeotsaifidit

they ever asked questions aboutdisheet, told lies to fill out time sheets as if

going on team building, or to say they were working on class pldnslieve the

government was sent bills for the time spent in this meeting about how to lie about

billing. | saw the time sheets fromighmeeting. John Tudbury, a PAE police

trainer, was in the meeting and sent me an e mail and informed me what ldappene
contemporaneously.

Fourth Am. ComplEx. A §20.

The public disclosure bar on False Claims Act actions by private citizenger&itjwhen
the government already has enough informationinvestigate the case and to make a decision
whether to prosecuteor where theinformation ‘could at least have alerted lamforcement
authorities to the likelihood of wrongdoirig. United States ex rel. Oliver v. Philip Morris USA
Inc., 826F.3d 466, 472 (D.C. Cir. 2016}oting United States ex rel. Davis v. District of
Columbig 679F.3d 832, 836 (D.C. Cir. 2012) Relator Scott’'s Statement indicates that the
government did have information about Defendatbsling practices”and even led Daniel
Moritz, aperson external to the government, to believe that the government “had prolilems w

the billing practices” in2011. SeeFourth Am.Compl. Ex. A §20. Relators initiated their

13



whistleblowing action in 2012-a yearafterthe government hadlreadyexpressed its concerns
about substantially similar billing practicesAccordingly, Relators’ actionoccurred after
authorities were already alerted to “the likelihood of wrongdoirgeePhilip Morris, 826 F.3dat
472.

That Relators allege specific instances of billing fraud about which thergogat may
not have already been aware is of no consequémderely providing more specific details about
what happened does not negate substantial similafitiditionally, arelator’s ability to reveal
specific instances of fraud where the general practice has already been pubtidgedi is
insufficient to prevent operation of the jurisdictional batd. (internal citationsand quotation
marksomitted). “[O]ur inquiry focuses not on the additional incriminating information a relator
supplies, but instead on whether ‘the quantum of information already in the public sphgre’ w
sufficient to ‘set government investigators on the trail of fraudtaples, InG.773F.3dat 87
(quotingUnited States ex rel. Springfield Terminal Ry. Co. v. Quidi.3d 645, 65455 (D.C.
Cir. 1994). As Relator Scott tells ua her Statemengovernment investigators were already “on
the trail of fraud” at least as early as the 261eting with Daniel Moritz and possibly as early as
the 2009 audit. SeeFourth Am. Compl. Ex. A 0. The government had information about
fraudulent billing, and the government’'s concern was communicated to someone outside the
government—-Paniel Moritz—before Relators ever told the government of their alleged instances
of fraud. Moreover, as acknowledged by Relatorse tallegations in Relators’ action are
substantially similar to allegations that were already publicly discloSed.id.

The public disclosure bar contains an exception dlatvs actionsrelated topublicly
disclosednformationto proceed ithe relator “is an original source of the informatio81 U.S.C.

§ 3730(e)(4)(A).An “original source” is an individual who “eithét) prior to a public disclosure

14



under subsection (e)(4)(a), has voluntarily disclosed to the Government the informatibition w
allegations or transactions in a claim are based, or (2) who has knowledge that is indegrehdent
materially adds to the publicly disded allegations or transactions, and who has voluntarily
provided the information to the Government before filing an actitth.8 3730(e)(4)(B).Relators
do not qualify as “original sources” under the first prong of the definition because gisblasure
occurred on or before the date of the June 2011 meeting with Daniel Moritz, anorRextat
disclosed their information to the government in 20B2lators do not qualify under the second
prong becaustheir allegations of specific instances @Ud do not materially add to the publicly
disclosed allegationsAs previously stated d'relator’s ability to reveal specific instances of fraud
where the general practice has already been publicly disclosed is iestifiicprevent operation
of the jurisdictional bar.” Philip Morris USA Inc, 826F.3d at 472 (internal quotation marks
omitted) (quotingUnited States ex rel. Settlemire v. District of Columb&8F.3d 913, 919 (D.C.
Cir. 1999). Prior public disclosuraccordinglybars Relators’ claim regarding fraudulent billing
for hours not worked in Lebanon.

2. Personnel

Relators allge that “Defendant &E hired personnel that did not meet the minimum
requirements for their jobs and thus provided services that were substandardetul washe
government under the contract and did not conform to contract requiremeotisth Am.Compl.
1 42. Relators list three specific employees: Sherif Ismail, Dave Kynochyanessa AbiChacra.
Id. 1143-48.

Relatorsallege that thepostedjob requirements for Sherif Ismail’gosition on the
www.devex.conwebsiteincluded twelve years itihe “criminal justice and rule of law fieldand

thatlsmail did not have twelve years of experien€@urth Am.Compl. § 43—44.In its Motion
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to Dismiss, Defendant argues that this claim “is based entirely on a fandigise: job
gualifications that Relators pulled from a thpdrty website.Thoseare not the job qualifications
in the contract-which, of course, is the governing standafdéf.’s Mem.at20(citation omitted)
Defendant attaches copies of the general contract and the Lefy@emfc task order as Exhibits
1 and 3to its Motion to Dismiss. SeeECF No. 651; ECF No. 6%2. These exhibits show the
government’s true job qualifications for Ismail’s position; a tweafear requirement 3ot present.
Relator$ claim necessarily relies upon the contract and task order provided by Bwetfend
Because a twelvgear requirement does not appear in those documents, and because those
documents are the governing standard, Relattasn is based on a nonexistent requireméihie
claim therefore cannot satisfy the relevant pleading standards under Rule 8 aS¢iRul
Relators allege that the posted job requirements for Dave Kynoch’s positiodedcl
twelve years in the “criminal justice and rule of law field” and five years pemgence in a
management position “in support of U.S. Government international crimstadglor rule of law
development contracts Fourth Am.Compl. { 46.Relators allege Kynoch was not qualified for
this position but do not pecify which requirement he failed to satisfyd.  47. If Relators’
allegation is that Kynoch failed to satisfy the twelear requirement, that allegatioruistenable
for the same reason that the identical allegation regarding Isamailot satisfy the relevant
pleading standards: there is no tweyar requirement in the governing documeitfelators’
allegation is that Kynoch failed to satisfy the fiyear requirement, Relators hasleghtly better
footing because a requirement for “Five Years International Program Maeagemork
experience'does appear in the contract provided by DefenddaeDef.’s Mem.Ex. 1, ECF No.
65-1, at24 (isting responsibilities/experience for Deputy Program Manager positidowever,

the Lebanorspecific task order states that “Resumes of all Deputy Program Manager &esdid
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will be submitted with proposals, and selection of same will be subject to INL abppr@ef.’s
Mem. Ex. 3, ECF No. 65-3, at 6. The task order goes on to list preferred qualifications, which do
not include a fiveyear requirementSee id. In any eventthe “INL” is the State Department’s
Bureau of International Narcotics and Law Enforcement Affaifee government would have
thereforeapproved Kynocls resumeand paid for his work despitny potential violation of the
five-year requirement Relators’ Opposition does not dispute the government’s apprdal.
misrepresentation about compliance with a statutory, regulatory, or contnaciumémentnust

be material to the Government’s payment decision in order to be actionable undésahl&&ims

Act.” Universal Health Services, Inc. v. United States ex rel. Escdi3®S. Ct. 1989,1996
(2016). While “the Government’s decision to expressly identify a provision as a condition of
payment is relevant,” it is not “automatically dispositivéd. at 2003. At bottom, theriif the
Government pays a particular claim in full despite its actual knowledge tt@hagquirements
were violated, that is very strong evidence that those requirementd anatedal.” Id. Because

the government paid for Kynoch’s work despite its knowledge that his resumeotniagve met

all job requirements, any failure to meet those requirements is immaterial antdoraide. See

id.

Relators allegewithout any supporting documentation, that the job requirements for
Vanessa AbiChacra’s positioncluded two years diuman Resourcesxperience, but AbiChacra
had noHuman Resourcesxperience. Fourth Am.Compl. { 48. Whereas Relators at least
provided requirements copied from a thpdrty website for the positions of Ismail and Kynoch,
Relatos provide no documentation of any kind related to AbiChaRedators daot even tell us
the alleged source of the requiremerRglators’ allegation related to AbiChacra’s hiring consists

of two sentencesSuch abare accusatiodoes not comply with the Rule 9(b) requiremgat
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fraud be pled with particularityRelators’ allegation regarding the hiring of unqualified employees
accordingly cannot succeed

3. Local Drivers

Relators allege that PAE employee Tom Baussegicontractediriver servicedor his own
recreational useasking drivers to take him to nevork activities and then passing the casts
these drivesn to the government-ourth Am. Compl. 1 49The allegations are based on emails
written by Relator Patricia ScottSeeid. (column titled “Evidence” in chart). The Complaint
mentions these emails but does not attach tieee id. Defendant’s Motion to Dismiss includes
copies of the cited emails, and Relators do not dispute the authenticity of Defepdavitied
copies SeeDef.’s Mem. Ex. 5 (July 11, 2011 Emaiigt. Ex. 6 (July 13, 2011 Email)The emails
indicate that most athe recreationatlirives occurred when Barnesivife was visiting for two
months seeDef.’s Mem. Ex. 5 (“[T]he drivers are complaining tHa¢y are asked by Tom Barnes
to drive Tom and his wife (who is visiting for 2 months) to sightseeing destinationsveslstnds,
as well as during the week, that are beyond the areas where the drivers are allpgv&dand
that thedrivescost twentyfive dollarseachon top of the drivers’ paychecksge id.(“They [the
drivers] said Tom gives them $25 extra on their paycheck for these excursiond[.Ex. 6
(“[Tom] pays them [the drivers] the extra $25 through the payroll saying hpwisnt to aneeting
so it was authorized.”). Even accepting these allegations as true for puoptisie motion, they
are immaterial and thus not actionable under the FCA.

In the recent case &fniversal Health Services, Inc. v. United States existobar the
Supreme Court established that misrepresentations must be “material” incolseactionable
under the False Claims Adt further explained that th materiality requirement is “rigorous

136S. Ct.at2002. Indeed|tlhe materiality $andard is demandindglhe False Claims Act is not
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an ‘all-purpose antifraud statute,” or a vehicle for punishing gavaeiety breaches of contract or
regulatory violation$. Id. at 2003 (citation omitted) (quotingllison Engine Co. v. United&es
exrel. Sanders553U.S. 662, 6722008). “Materiality, in addition, cannot be found where
noncompliance is minor or insubstantiald. A few weekend sightseeing tripadthe occasional
twenty-five-dollar detour are “minor or insubstantialSee id. Accordingly, Relatorsallegation
regarding abuse of local drivers in Lebarfaifs because iioes not meet the materiality standard
underEscobar

4. Airline Tickets

Relators allege thadefendanfPAE purchased airline tickets that did not comply with the
low-price requirements of the Fly America Act, and that Defendant requestednmeaver
reimbursement for these overpriced flights in violation of the False Clarhs FPourth Am.
Compl. 11 50-56.The Complaint lists two examples of such trips, showing two of Defendant’s
employees flying from Lebanon to the United States and bddky 56. The trips included
multiple connecting flightsSee d. Relators allege that, “[ijn an email to PABRployees on June
22, 2011 (with PAE Contracting Officer Representative Daniel Moritz doggea recipient),
Thomas Barnes instructed that unless a flight is going across the A@aethn, individual flights
do not have to meet [Fly America Act] requirementtl” {55. Relators did not attach a copy of
the emailto their Complaint Defendant attached a copy of the email to their Motion to Dismiss
as Exhibit 7 Relators do not dispute that this is the email referenced in their Compldiet.
email states that the instructions about how to buy flights in accordance wiiy #wmerica Act
came from a U.S. government official, Contracting Officer Represenibtiddlontek. Whether
Kontek was correct in his interpretation of the Fly America Act doesmatter. According to the

email upon which Relators’ allegation relies, Korteks a representative of the U.S.
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government—told Defendant that it could purchase tickets in this manhébility under the
False Claims Act requires that tBeefendant acted “knowingly” in presenting false claims or
making false records31 U.S.C.§ 3729(a). Defendant’s reliance upon the governmeiotgn
explanation of the Fly America Act means tRafators’ airline allegation fails becau3efendant
could not have “knowingly” defrauded the government by following the governmergtgidns.
See, e.g.United States ex rel. Durcholz v. FKW Int89F.3d 542, 545 (7th Cir. 1999) (“If the
government knows and approves of the particulars of a claim for payment befarkaithais
presented, the presenter cannot be said to have knowingly presented a fraudulentlairfalfn
such a case, the governnisritnowledge effectively negates the fraud or falsity required by the
FCA.").

5. Retaliation

Relators allege that Defendant terminated Relator Patricia Scott as retaliatiost again
Scott’s efforts to investigat@efendant’s fraudulent activityrourth Am.Compl. 1Y 57-75In its
prior September 13, 2017 Memorandum Opinion and QtterCourt deermined that “Relator
Scott has stated a viable retaliation clain®épt. 13, 2017 Mem. Op. and Order, ECF No.a86,
16-17. Defendant acknowledges that the Court has already ruled on the viability of lia¢ioeta
claim, and Defendant does not ask the Court to revisit the.isSeeDef.’'s Mem. at 3.
Accordingly, further discussion here isnatessary.

6. Medical Examinations

Relators allege that Defendant required employees to pay for medioaihaions but did
not reimburse the employees for these expenses as required by Détecalatnact with the U.S.
government. Fourth Am.Compl. 11 76—79.Relators allegation appearto be that Defendant

received money from the government for these medical examinations but failed taganoney
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on to the employees who had paid for their own medical examisat@e id.Relatorsargument
necessarily relies upon the contraoter which Relators claim the reimbursement was required.
Relators did not provide a copy of the contract and did not cite to any specific agalti@eguage
defining reimbursable medical examinatiori3efendant attached a copy of the conteaad the
Lebanonspecific task ordeto its Motion to Dismiss.SeeDef.’'s Mem. Ex. 1 (contract)d. Ex. 3
(Lebanonspecific task order). These documerts not contain a provision regarding
reimbursement for medical examis fact, they contain language thebntradicts Relators
position. Most notably,Section H.8f the general contraditled “Contractor Personnel Medical
Requirements,stateghat”[ tjhe Contractor shall be responsible for assuring that such individuals
receive the propemmunizations and take the proper health meadweése, during, and after
said travel. Physical examinations and immunizations will not be provided by the goveriiment.
Def’s Mem. Ex. 1 at 40Relatorsallegationthat Defendantviolated the contradby not using
government money to reimburse employees for medical examinéditsnkecause the allegation
is unsupported by the contract upon whiafelies.

7. Parts Overbilling

Relators allege that Defendant overbilled the U.S. government for pRoistth Am.
Compl. 1 80.TheComplaint’sallegationconsists of two sentences: “PAE Employee, Elie Mattar
(referred to in Relator Scott’s statement as ‘Eli’), billed products foertt@n cost such that the
government was overbilled for partsir. Mattar knowingly received invoices from locals which
had such parts billed for more than costd. Relator Scott’'s Statement of Material Disclosure
briefly mentions this overbillingout itprovidesscant detail Fourth Am. Compl. ExA T 23(“We
had an IT person named Eli. He billed product over what it cost. There were kickbacksdnvolve

The government was overbilled for parts. | supervised Eli, and | discoveredciatwould give
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an invoice for, say $100, when the part actually cody $80. . . When bills were scrutinized,
[another employee] discovered the discrepancy in pricing and)cdsven if taken as true, these
brief andnon-specific accusations of general wrongdoamg insufficient to constitute a pleading
of fraud with particularity as required by Rule 9(b).

8. Other StesBeyond Lebanon

Relators allege that th&audulent activities conducted at their site in Lebanon also
occurred in other countries where Defendant was working under similar contractgh Am.
Compl. 181-88. At the November 2017 status conference, discussin@pkeative Second
Amended Complaint, the Court expressed that the Compiaits thencurrent form likelydid
not allege extrd.ebanon fraud with particularityThe Courtexplained:I've looked through the
second amended complaint, and it's my opinion that it relates solely tella@on contract. .
Somy feeling is that it's not specific enough as to these other countidsf."s Mem. Ex. 4 at
3:254:2, 8:239:2. The Court allowed Relators to file a Third Amended Complaint to add more
specifics relating to their allegatidhatfraud was also committed at other sites beyond Lebanon.
SeeAm. Scheduling and Procedures Order, ECF No.at%; SecondAm. Scheduling and
Procedures Order, ECF No. 485. Relatorsthenfiled a Third Amended ComplainfThey also
eventually fied the nowcurrent FourttAmended Complaint, but the Fourth Amended Complaint
made no changes to the extr@banon allegationsAccordingly, in comparing the Second to the
Third andFourthAmended Complaist the Court cadecidewhether Relators have added enough
specifics to their extraebanonclaim such thatt is sufficiently pledunder Rule 9(b).

Defendant included a redline comparison of the Second and Third Amended Complaints
as an exhibit to its present Motion to DismiSeeDef.’s Mem. Ex. 10.Relators have not objected

to the accuracy of this redline, and the redline makes clear that Relators auded sew
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paragraphs but very little substancéhe new paragraphs refer to a 2009 government audit, a
PowerPoint presentation on “creative billing” by Dan Moritz, and phony “team building
excursions.See idat 33-35. In large partthese were already mentioned in the previous version
of the Complaint. CompareFourth Am. Compl{182, 83 with Second Am. Compi{37, 41
(detailing creative billing training and presentation, billing for phony teandibgil andaudits).
Relators seeminglgdded a long list of international task order numbers, but this list is simply
copied and pasted from elsewhere in the earlier Second Amended Corsptdirthat it now
appears twiceén the Fourth Amended ComplainCompareFourth Am. Compl {19, 83 with
Second Am. Compl 9. Relators seeminglgdded garagraph about fraud in Djibouti, but this
too isessentiallycoped and pasted from the Second Amended Compl@atmpareFourth Am.
Compl. 1986, 87,with Second Am. Compl{81, 82. The onlynewcontentthat is not merely a
restatement of old facis the allegation that Relator Scott once told a fellow employee of her
concerns aboudDefendant’simekeeping in Lebangmand the employee told her that was just “the
way they did business,” in his previous station in LibeRaurth Am. Compl{ 85. Even when
combined with the thin allegations of previous complaintsatttdtion of this single statement is
not enough to plead a complex multinational fraud scheme with the particuapiiredby Rule
9(b).

In sum, the Court agrees with Defendants Relaitors have failed to pleagost of Count
One with particularity. The exception is Relator Scott’'s retaliation claim, wiehCourt
previously found viable, and which is alleged separately in Count Nine. Acgly;dine Court
grants Defendant’s Motion to Dismiss with respect to the claims encompassgoubt One

discussed above.
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B. Count Two:False Claim®Act—Fraudulent Inducement

In Count Two, Relators allege that Defendaitlated the False Claims Aathen it
“knowingly made, used, or caustxlbe made or used, false records or statements to get false
claims paid or approved by the United States Goverrtjiefitourth Am. Compl. 98. In support
of Count Twq Relatorscite to many (but not all) of the same paragraph sections cited in Count
One:paragraphs 242, 4348, 5775, and 8689. Id. 1 102. "hese paragraph sections allege
submission of fraudulent time sheets in Lebanon, hofnogpnqualified personnel, retal@y firing
of Relator Patricia Scott, overbilling for parts, and fraudulent actatit\arious other sites beyond
Lebanon In other words, Count Two alleges a false claim that mimmaey of the false claim
allegations in Count One.Because these pamaphs draw upon the sanadlegationsand
underlying factsaas Count Onelid, theaboveanalysis for Count One similarly applies herss
explainedin the analysis o€Count One above, only one of these allegations still survties
allegedretaliatory firing of Relator ScotlTheComplaint includes a separate Count Niedicated
solely to the surviving allegation eétaliatory firing. All other allegations shall gdrefore be
dismissed due to the False Claims Act's public disclosure bar or due to Refaiorg to
sufficiently plead their claims under Rules 8 and 9(Brcordingly, Count Two is dismissed;
Relators may proceed with their retaliation claim undesr€dline.

C. Count ThreeFalse Claim#ct—Implied False Certification

In Count Three, Relators allege that Defendant violated the False Claims Acséecau
“[w]ith each submission of fraudulent invoices to the U.S. Government, as outlined above,
Defendant impliedly represented falsely that such submitted invoicesaseurate as required by
the Contract Fourth Am. Compl. .09. Moreover, they allege thah& US. Government relied

on such false representations and, presuming such fraudulent invoices were accutate, pai
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Defendant more than what ought to have been reimbursed under the Conutadt.110. In
support of Count Three, Relators cite to the same paragraph sections cited in Count Two:
paragraphs 2742, 4348, 5775, and 8689. Id. 1108. Tese paragraph sections allege
submission of fraudulent time sheets in Lebanon, hiring of unqualified persoraledioey firing

of Relator Patricia Scott, oxlling for parts, and fraudulent activity at various other sites beyond
Lebanon. Like with Count Two, Count Three’s false claims allegations draw upon the same
allegations already explored in the discussion of Count One. #mscribed in the analgsi
regarding Count One, only one of these allegations still survittes+etaliatory firing of Relator
Scott. All other allegationshallbe dismissed due to the False Claims Act’s public disclosure bar
or due to Relatordailure to plead with plausibility and particularityfCount Three igherefore
dismissed; Relators may proceed with their retaliation claim under Count Nine.

D. Count Fourfalse Claim#ct—Substandard Contract Services

In Count Four, Relators allege thizefendanviolated the False Claims Aathen it*hired
personnel that were unqualified for the positions for which Defendant hired them ankidbr w
Defendant was being reimbursed under its contract with the United Stamsth Am.Compl.

1 116. In support of Count Four, Relators cite to paragraphd&and 8689 of their Complaint

Id. These paragraph sections alldgeng of unqualified personnel in Lebanon and similar
fraudulent activity at various other sites beyond Lebanbike with the previous two counts
Count Four’s false claims allegations draw upon the same allegations already explored in th
discussion of Count One. As described in that analRgletors have nasufficiently pled these

allegations Accordingly, Count Four is dismissed.
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E. Count FiveiFalse Claims Aet-Non-Conforming Goods

In Count Five, Relators allege that Defendaiatiated the False Claims Act when it
“submitted invoices for reimbursement containing requests for reimburséondiit hardware
that had been fraudulently marked up due to kickdg¢k&ourth Am. Compl. 123. This count
similarly draws upon the allegations already dissected in the discussion of@wimthe context
of paragraphs #87 of the Fourth Amended Complaint. As the Court previously explained in that
discussionthis claim consists of a mere two sentences; it fails to meptahding standardaid
out in Rule 9(b). Accordingly, Count Five is dismissed.

F. Count Six:False Claims AetFly America Act

In Count Six, Relators allege that Defendaidlated the False Claims Act when it
“knowingly purchased airline tickets that were rmompliant with the Fly America Act (49 U.S.C.
§ 40118) resulting in higher ticket pricesourth Am. Compl. 132. Thes allegations also rely
upon allegations paragraphs 5&6 and 575 of the Fourth Amended Complaregarding false
claims that the Court previously examined in the context of Count @eexplained inthat
analysis Relators have failed sufficienty plead this claimAccordingly, Count Six is dismissed.

G. Count SevenFalse Claims Aet-Medical Examinations

In Count Seven, Relators allege that Defendaotated the False Claims Act when it
“knowingly submitted invoices to the U.S. government whintluded expenses for Relators’
medical examinations, but Defendants did not properly reimburse Relators fomsdtical
expenses.” Fourth Am. Compl. 1140. Count Seven, like the previous counts, relies upon
allegationgin paragraphs 779 of the Fourth Amended Complaithpat the Court considered in
its discussion of Count One above. As explained tiigtors have failed tsufficiently plead

this claim Accordingly, Count Seven is dismissed.
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H. Count Eight:False Claims AetDriving Services

In Count EightRelators allege that[a]s described in paragraphs 49, 61+B, and 82
87,” Defendanviolated the False Claims Act wherf'khowingly submitted invoices to the U.S.
government which included expenses of driving services provided by PAE subcont&s}diuit
such services were fraudulently used for recreatiamah.government, nomork purposes.”
Fourth Am. Compl. 1150. This claim also relies upon the allegations regarding driving services
already examined in this Court’'srederation of Count One. As explained in the analysis of
Count One bhove, this claim fails to meet the materiality standard established by the Supreme
Court inEscobar Accordingly, Count Eight is dismissed.

|. Count Nine:False Claims Act-Retaliation

In Count Nine, Relators allege that Defendant terminated Relator Patricids Scott
employmentin retaliation for her complaints to superiors and investigation of Defendant’s
fraudulent activity. Defendant’sMemorandum in Support d¥lotion to Dismissacknowledges
that Relatorshouldbe allowed to proceed on this Colngicause the Court previously ruled that
the retaliation claim is sufficiently pledef.’s Mem.at 3. Accordingly, in granting Defendant’s
presenMotion, the Court does not consider the dismissal of Count Nine.

V.CONCLUSION

Whenthe CourtallowedRelators to submit a fifth version of their Complaint, the Court
made clear that it expected them to have thoroughly “reviewed the Third Adv€odeplaint for
any deficiencieand made the necessary edits in their Fourth Amended Conipl&apt. 13,
2018 Mem. Op. and Ordeat 2. Moreover, “[the Court likewise expect[ed] that the Fourth
Amended Complaint, the fifth iteration of Relators’ pleading, [would] be the operaivelaint

for purposes of moving forward with Defendant’'s Motion to Dismiss and that no furthermeed t
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amend [would] arise prior to discoveryld. In other words, this was Relators’ last chattcéx
any errors in their pleadindrelators havead numerous opportunities to amend and modify their
claims—an additional attempt would be unlikely to result in a different outcome.

For the foregoing reasonBefendant’sMotion to Dismiss ECF No. 64js GRANTED.
Counts One, Two, Three, Four, Five, Six, Seven, and EightDa@MISSED WITH
PREJUDICE. An appropriate Order accompanies this Memorandum Opinion.

Date: January B, 2020 Is/

COLLEEN KOLLAR-KOTELLY
United States District Judge
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